



Extent to which ICF intervention is likely to lead to Transformational Change

ICF KPI 15 Methodology Note February 2023



Contents

Acronyms	3
Purpose of the document	4
Rationale	4
Summary table	7
Technical Definition	7
Methodological Summary	9
Methodology	9
Data Quality	. 12
Annex 1: Worked Example	. 14
Annex 2: Examples of indicators against each of the Transformational Change criteria	. 19
Annex 3: Definitions	. 23
Annex 4: Optional ICF KPI 15 Reporting Template	. 25
Annex 5: Guide for converting original ICF KPI 15 scores to the updated ICF KPI 1 scores.	

Photograph by Ryan Searle

Acronyms

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

DESNZ Department for Energy Security and Net Zero

EERESH Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy for SMEs and Households

FCDO Foreign Commonwealth and Development Office

FiT Feed-In Tariff
GHG Greenhouse Gas

ICF International Climate Finance

IPCC Inter-governmental Panel on Climate Change

KPI Key Performance Indicator

MSMEs Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises

NA Not Applicable

ODA Official Development Assistance
REX Results and Evidence eXchange
SMEs Small and Medium Sized Enterprises

TA Technical Assistance ToC Theory of Change

UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

UK United Kingdom

Extent to which ICF intervention is likely to lead to Transformational Change

Purpose of the document

International Climate Finance (ICF) is Official Development Assistance (ODA) from the UK to support developing countries to reduce poverty and respond to the causes and impacts of climate change. These investments help developing countries to:

- adapt and build resilience to the current and future effects of climate change
- pursue low-carbon economic growth and development
- protect, restore and sustainably manage nature
- · accelerate the clean energy transition.

ICF is spent by the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO), the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ) and the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra). This methodology note explains how to calculate one of the ICF key performance indicators (KPI) that we use to measure the achievements of UK ICF. The intended audience is ICF programme teams, results leads, climate analysts and our programme implementing partners. Visit www.gov.uk/guidance/international-climate-finance to learn more about UK International Climate Finance, its results and read case studies.

Rationale

International Climate Finance (ICF) resources dedicated to climate change actions only form a very small part of the financing required to help developing countries build resilience to climate impacts and shift to lower carbon patterns of development.

The ICF will have greater impact if it can be 'transformational' by, for example, encouraging others to replicate and scale-up successful activities in the longer term and facilitating substantive institutional and policy change toward a low carbon and climate resilient. Without such change, it will be unlikely that we can limit global warming of the planet to two degrees Celsius, adapt to the impacts of climate change, or protect and expand our development gains. Therefore, all UK ICF programmes should contribute to transformational change.

This indicator recognises that 'transformation' is multi-dimensional, and that the indicator will not be able to capture everything that, in time, may contribute to transformational change. Rather, the objective is to capture enough evidence to form a reasonable descriptive picture of ICF effectiveness in this area.

The transformations the ICF seeks to bring about will only be evident after a period of time. Though it will be necessary to monitor these longer-term changes, in many cases they are unlikely to materialise within an ICF programmes lifetime. Therefore,

this indicator tracks evidence demonstrating the likelihood ICF activities being transformational or contributing to wider transformations. It does so by using criteria for drivers of transformation, to assess the extent to which ICF support can be linked, if not attributed, to likely transformational change.

ICF programmes are likely to be more transformational if several of the following criteria prevail, and if at least one criterion exists for each level of the <u>Theory of Change for Transformational Change</u>:

- Political will and local ownership: Where the need for change is agreed locally, and the process is locally owned. Where high-level political buy-in and broad support from across societies, cultures, and interest groups enable widespread changes to patterns of development;
- Capacity and capability can be increased: Where a target country and target communities have the capacities and capabilities necessary to bring about the change;
- Increased Innovation: Where wider and sustained change comes from innovation, such as new technologies, with the potential to demonstrate new ways of doing things;
- Evidence of effectiveness is shared: Where approaches which have proven successful in one location are disseminated widely, and lessons on their usefulness are credible:
- Leverage / create incentives for others to act: Where the costs of climate
 action are reduced to the point that acting on climate change risks and
 challenges is a sensible decision for public agencies, commercial firms, and
 private individuals. These cost reductions may need to be steep enough to
 overcome behavioural inertia;
- Replicability: Where good ideas piloted by the ICF are replicated by others in the same country, and more widely;
- **Scalability**: Where interventions (such as national, sectoral or regional programmes) have sufficient reach to achieve progressive institutional and policy reform, or drive down the costs of technology deployment;
- Sustainability: Where activities are likely to be sustained once ICF support ends
- Critical Mass: Ultimately, many truly transformational changes will require a
 critical mass, to overcome political, market and other sources of inertia. Many
 of the points above relate to achieving this critical mass and the more of the
 above an intervention can promote, the greater the likelihood that it will lead to
 transformational change.

<u>The Theory of Change for transformational change below</u> (figure 1) groups criteria at three different levels (drivers, mechanism and enablers).

Transformed pattern of development – Impacts Low Carbon & Climate Resilient Transformational Change -able Critical Political Enablers will & local owner-Leverage / ship Mechanism Replicable At Scale incentives Capacity / Capability

Figure 1: Theory of Change for Transformational Change

Summary table

Table 1: ICF KPI 15 summary table

Units	Score 1-5
Headline data to be reported	Score 1-5, representing the likelihood of transformational change
Disaggregations	No disaggregations are required.
Revision history	February 2023
	The main revisions have been:
	 An update to the score used, to allow for a clearer assessment of the strength of evidence, and equal consideration given to negative as well as positive outcomes.
	 Editorial changes to improve clarity. Addition of <u>Annex 5: Guide for converting original ICF</u> KPI 15 scores to updated ICF KPI 15 scores.
Timing	ICF programme teams will be commissioned to report ICF results in spring, according to department-specific processes.
	Report results for the most recent complete programming year. If reporting lags mean that results are only available more than a year after they were delivered, enter them under the relevant earlier year.
Links across the ICF KPI portfolio	ICF KPI 15 complements all other ICF KPIs, by measuring progress towards desired long-term impacts. Other ICF KPIs may be used as supporting evidence informing the KPI 15 assessment.

Technical Definition

Transformational Change is 'change that catalyses further changes', enabling either a shift from one state to another (e.g., from conventional to lower carbon or more climate-resilient patterns of development), or faster change (e.g., speeding up progress on cutting the rate of deforestation). However, it can entail a range of simultaneous transformations to political power, social relations, decision-making processes, equitable markets and technology.

Many of the transformations the ICF is seeking to bring about will only be evident after a period of time, and most are unlikely to materialise within the period of ICF support. This indicator therefore tracks evidence demonstrating the likelihood of ICF

activities being transformational or contributing to wider transformations. It does so by considering evidence against context specific criteria, which act as proxies for drivers of transformational change, and using this evidence to assess if transformational change is judged likely or unlikely. These criteria are based on the Theory of Change (ToC) for transformational change.

ICF programme managers should annually report an overall assessment score (between 1 and 5) indicating the likelihood of transformational change linked to the ICF support based on the following descriptions:

Table 2: Score and qualitative descriptors

Score	Descriptor
1	Substantial evidence that suggests transformational change is unlikely or will not occur
2	Partial evidence that suggests transformational change is unlikely
3	Not enough evidence yet to assess, or the balance of evidence is inconclusive
4	Partial evidence that suggests transformational change is likely
5	Substantial evidence that suggests transformational change is likely or already occurring

Methodological Summary

This KPI is a qualitative indicator. Programmes should provide:

- An overall assessment score (between 1 and 5), based on the <u>score and</u> <u>qualitative descriptor table</u> indicating the likelihood of transformational change linked to ICF support.
- A supporting narrative report against the relevant criteria of Transformational Change, setting out the supporting evidence of transformation in those criteria, using programme specific sub-indicators.

The methodology involves the following steps, which are described in more detail in the next section:

At the start of a programme:

- 1. Define what successful transformation looks like for the programme (including its Theory of Change)
- 2. Select which of the Transformational Change criteria (shown under <u>rationale</u>) are relevant to report against
- 3. Determine if the criteria are equally weighted or if different weightings apply
- 4. Identify Programme-specific indicators relevant to each criteria, and set milestones

At each subsequent reporting round:

- 1. Collect data against each of the indicators
- 2. Based on the data collected, score each criterion individually
- 3. Document your scoring
- 4. Assign an overall score using the score and qualitative descriptor table

Methodology

At the start of a programme:

- 1. Define what successful transformation looks like for the programme (including its Theory of Change)
- a. List and briefly describe at impact and outcome levels and noting monetary values the projects or programmes. This may be wider than just ICF programmes and include other influencing activities.
- b. Determine the baseline that transformational change is being assessed from. This should not require extra analysis beyond the Strategic Cases of the main interventions but may need amending if new projects are added to the portfolio. The baseline is based on a qualitative judgement assessment.
- c. Describe the Theory of Change that links the programme activities and the expected transformation. This step will draw heavily on the ToC of the main

interventions, it may require additional work given that transformational change may sit above an intervention ToC.

- d. Define the key stakeholders involved. This step contextualises the UK support and allows a political economy analysis of the change to be summarised. Other stakeholders could be considered: a) those whose engagement is a necessary precondition for change; b) those who have been (or need to be) engaged during implementation; c) those who are not essential, but whose engagement presents opportunities. This may need amending as additional key players are identified during programme implementation.
- e. Describe what successful transformational change looks like for the programme and when is it expected to occur.

2. Select which of the Transformational Change criteria are relevant to report against

Decide on which Transformational Change criteria are relevant. The Transformational Change criteria are taken from the <u>ToC for Transformational</u> <u>Change</u> and are:

- Political will and local ownership
- Capacity and capability
- Increased Innovation
- Evidence of effectiveness is shared
- Leverage/incentives for others to act is created
- Replicability
- Scalability
- Sustainability
- Critical Mass

Each criterion is described in more detail here. At least one criterion should be included from each level of the Theory of Change (ToC) for transformational change

The categories are not intended to be of equal importance and may not all be relevant in every case. However, an absence of some (notably 'political will' and 'capability and capacity') are likely to be major constraints on transformational change. 'Replication', though clearly important, is likely to be a later stage indicator. In turn, 'sustainability' is likely to rely on changes to many of the other criteria to be a truly transformational change.

3. Determine if the criteria are equally weighted or if different weightings apply

Weightings should be applied to the individual criteria depending on how many are present at each level of the Theory of Change (i.e. apply a lower weighting if there are multiple criteria from the same level of the Theory of Change). For example, a programme with four criteria relevant for ICF KPI 15 might have one criteria weighted at 30% from the ToC level: Enabler (e.g. Sustainable), one criteria weighted at 30% from the ToC level: Mechanism (e.g. At Scale) and two criteria weighted at 20% from the ToC level: Drivers (e.g. Innovation and Evidence of Effectiveness).

4. Identify Programme-specific indicators relevant to each criteria, and set milestones

Indicators should be selected for each of the criteria These should draw on the programme's logframe, other ICF KPIs, and any planned evaluations if appropriate. New indicators may be developed if the above sources do not provide the necessary information. Examples of useful indicators for each criterion can be found in the table in Annex 2.

For each indicator, milestones should be set (or taken from the logframe). If milestones are not available, a qualitative description should be provided of how each indicator will be assessed to allocate a score to it (e.g. what conditions would need to be present to score a 1-5).

Please be aware that although these types of evidence have been suggested, programme managers should treat these as a guide and think carefully about what types of evidence are most relevant to their particular programme and local circumstances. This is important given that the barriers to systemic change are often hierarchical or local, or specific to particular sectors.

At each subsequent reporting round:

1. Collect data against each of the indicators

Using the previously identified sources of evidence (e.g. the programme's logframe, other relevant ICF KPIs, and/or evaluation evidence) collect data against each of the indicators.

2. Based on the data collected, score each criterion individually

Present the data against each criterion and use the milestones or qualitative description to justify a score for each individually (e.g. a programme may score of '2' for 'Political will and local ownership', a '1' for 'Sustainability' and a '-1' for 'Scalability'.

3. Document your scoring

Document your scoring and rationale. The <u>optional reporting template for ICF</u> KPI 15 can be used.

4. Assign an overall score using the qualitative descriptor table

Assign an overall score, based on the weighted mean of the respective individual criteria.

Report:

- Achieved score for most recent year
- Planned score for future years

The concept of planned total programme benefits does not make sense for this indicator, therefore is not reported.

Consideration of contribution/attribution

While it may be possible to attribute change in some of the Transformational Change criteria to ICF activities, it is expected that in many cases it will only be possible to track contribution to a wider effort.

This indicator seeks to track the transformational impact of UK Government funded climate change 'activities'. Though the bulk of these will involve bilateral funding through the ICF, it will be important to recognise the role of wider influencing and policy support provided by the UK Government. The contributions of others to the likely transformational change – notably national and decentralized governments, but also other domestic and international donors and organisations – should also be recorded as part of expected and actual results.

The methodology acknowledges that some ICF activities may inadvertently have an adverse effect on transformational change (pilots might undermine the case for change; interventions may build capacity in one area by denuding it in another, etc.). External conditions may also limit the extent to which ICF activities can achieve their transformational goals, or programmes may fail to deliver activities as expected. It will be important that the evidence presented is balanced, and that any such negative influences are reported on.

Data Quality

Portfolio ICF results are published annually in autumn in <u>voluntary compliance with</u> <u>the UK statistics authority code of practice for official statistics</u>. This means that we make efforts to maximise the trustworthiness, quality and value of the statistics. To support ICF data quality, please:

- 1. Review ICF KPI results provided by programme partners, ensuring that methodologies have been adhered to, and calculations are documented and correct.
- 2. Ask a suitable analyst or climate adviser to quality assure ICF results before submission.
- 3. Submit ICF results following the instructions specific to your department. Include supporting documentation of calculations and any concerns about data quality.
- 4. A revision to historical results may be needed if programme monitoring systems or methodologies are improved, or historical data errors are found. Please update results for earlier years as necessary, and make a note in the return. ICF results are reported cumulatively, therefore it is important to make these corrections.

Questions about results reporting can be discussed with central ICF analysts, who undertake a further stage of quality assurance before publication.

Annex 1: Worked Example

Based on a fictitious programme that provides financing for energy efficiency and small-scale renewable energy projects in developing countries.

Prior to programme delivery the following steps were undertaken:

1. Define what successful transformation looks like for the programme (including its Theory of Change)

A paragraph was written explaining the programmes theory of change and what transformational change would looks like.

2. Select which Transformational Change criteria are relevant to report against

Based on stakeholder consultation, relevant criteria were selected which included: evidence of effectiveness shared; capacity & capability increased; replicability; scalability; sustainability.

3. Determine if the criteria are equally weighted or if different weightings apply

The selected Transformational Change criteria received equal weighting.

4. Identify Programme-specific indicators relevant to each criteria, and set milestones.

Programme specific indicators were selected with milestones set as showed in <u>Table</u> <u>3</u>.

Then for the current reporting round the following steps were carried out. The result of these steps are shown in Table 3.

- 1. Collect data against each of the indicators;
- 2. Based on the data collected, score each criterion individually;
- 3. Document scoring (using the ICF KPI 15 reporting template); and
- 4. Assign overall ICF KPI 15 score

Table 3: Worked example using reporting template.

NOTE: THIS IS A FICTIONAL EXAMPLE

'Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy for SMEs and Households' (EERESH) Programme/Project summary:

Implementing Years: 2012 - 2015

Donors: UK, Germany,

Reporting level: Programme

Total Programme/Portfolio/Fund Size: £100m

UK Contribution to Programme/Portfolio/Fund: £10m

ICF KPI 15 score: (5 Substantial evidence that suggests transformational

change is likely or already occurring)

Transformational Change criteria: Effectiveness shared, replicable, scalable,

sustainable

Programme Description:

Based on a fictitious programme that provides financing and technical assistance for energy efficiency and small-scale renewable energy projects in developing countries. The programme aims to increase the flow of finance to small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and households by creating a new partnership with the private sector, specifically investing into a fund to leverage greater amounts of private finance. The fund tackles the common barrier of institutional finance not being readily available to SMEs and home-based microenterprise for low carbon projects in developing economies. The fund would be transformational if it can increase the flow of funding from the private sector such that fundings is likely to continue to increase without additional donor financing.

Criteria relevant to ICF KPI 15:

The following five criteria were selected prior to implementation as relevant to assessing ICF KPI 15: evidence of effectiveness shared; capacity & capability increased; replicability; scalability; sustainability. The tables below show the weighting, milestones, indicators, data and narrative for each criterion.

Criteria 1: Evidence of effectiveness is shared [ToC Level: Drivers] Weighting: 20%

Indicator	Data	Milestone
Number of new annual website visitors	2,000	1500
Number of activities (e.g. workshops, key publications) delivered to disseminate programme information	20	18

Indicator selection narrative:

Number of new website visitors was chosen to measure of whether evidence of effectiveness is shared. Sign-up / log-in system helps track whether relevant users have accessed the website. Number of activities (e.g. workshops, key publications) delivered to disseminate programme information is a standard measure of whether evidence of effectiveness is shared.

Justification of score:

A score of 4 (Partial evidence that suggests transformational change is likely) was awarded, as based on higher than expected number of visitors to a programme's website and a slightly higher than expected number of activities to disseminate programme information for a programme of this size.

Criteria 2: Capacity and capability increased [ToC Level: Drivers] Weighting: 20%

Indicator	Data	Milestone
Total number of TA programmes approved since inception	100	97
Total amount of TA funding approved	\$3.82m	\$2m
Average number of people trained through the TA Fund per country	300	500

Indicator selection narrative:

Indicators relating to Technical Assistance (TA) selected as most relevant to capacity building.

Justification of score:

A score of 4 (Partial evidence that suggests transformational change is likely) was awarded, as a good level of TA programmes were approved but the total funding for each TA programme was relatively low and more people could be trained via the TA fund.

Criteria 3: Replicable [ToC Level: Mechanism]

Weighting: 20%

Indicator	Data	Milestone
Have the Financial Institutions developed low carbon loans beyond the programme?	Yes	Binary Yes/No
Did the programme lead to increased institutional knowledge of low carbon investments?	Yes	Binary Yes/No

Indicator selection narrative:

The potential for replicability assessed on whether low carbon loans were developed beyond the programme and whether the programme led to increased institutional knowledge of low carbon investments.

Justification of score:

A score of 5 (Substantial evidence that suggests transformational change is likely or already occurring) was awarded.

Criteria 4: Scalability [ToC Level: Mechanism]

Weighting: 20%

Indicator	Data	Milestone
Total number of financial institutions receiving investment (loans and direct investments)	30	20
Total number of countries receiving investment	25	15
Total number of individual sub-loans disbursed	20,000	10,000

Indicator selection narrative:

The potential for scalability assessed not only via total number of individual subloans disbursed but also by geographic spread and total number of financial institutions receiving investment.

Justification of score:

A score of 5 (Substantial evidence that suggests transformational change is likely or already occurring) was awarded, as many developing countries and financial institutions were reached.

Criteria 5: Sustainability [TOC Level: Enablers]

Weighting: 20%

Indicator	Data	Milestone
Total percentage of financial institutions expected to extend their programmes to new MSME recipients	79%	75%

Indicators Selection Narrative:

Total percentage of financial institutions expected to extend their programme to new MSME recipients was deemed the most appropriate proxy of EERESH's sustainability. Justification of score:

A score of 5 (Substantial evidence that suggests transformational change is likely or already occurring) was awarded, as over three quarters of the financial institutions expected to extend their programme to new MSME recipients.

Overall Score

A weighted average mean score calculation was conducted:

			Weighted
Criteria	Score	Weighting	score
Effectiveness	4	0.2	0.8
Capacity	4	0.2	0.8
Replicable	5	0.2	1
At Scale	5	0.2	1
Sustainable	5	0.2	1
TOTAL		1	4.6

Total Weighted Score / Total Weighting = 4.6 / 1 = 4.6

A whole number is needed so 4.6 rounds to a score of

5 Substantial evidence suggests transformational change is likely or already occurring

Annex 2: Examples of indicators against each of the Transformational Change criteria

Criteria	Approach and examples of indicators to assess by:
Political will and local ownership	 Partner government is acting on climate change, as evidenced by: The tracking of influencing activities by UK Government staff; The quality of any national climate change strategy or similar, including whether this has been costed and included in the national budget, whether any proposals it contains for regulatory changes are being or likely to be implemented, whether the Ministry of Finance and key line ministries are actively tracking indicators of national change (via nationally formulated KPIs or similar), etc. Research provided through ICF activities informing debates on climate change in national parliament or similar Stakeholder engagement events organised by national or subregional governments on climate change issues Civil society efforts to foster informed debate on climate change [as measured by mobile phone campaigns, newspaper column inches, twitter tweets, etc.]
	 Other [defined by programme or project]

Capacity and capability is increased

Evidence from ICF country offices and spending units of one or more of the following:

- Number of Government Departments or Agencies undertaking own analysis of climate action following UK Government support
- other [defined by programme or project]
- Number of sector, national, and decentralized government plans under implementation that mitigate risks and ensure adaptation to climate change by disadvantaged people and climate vulnerable communities
- Key institutions addressing the new challenges climate change will pose are supported by UK Government, either to evolve or emerge
- UK Government support makes developing country negotiators more influential in international negotiations
- Relevant capacities developed in the private sector [e.g., creation of/support for effective trade associations supporting low carbon firms, building the capacity of financial intermediaries better to understand/assess the risk-reward profile of new technologies or energy efficiency, etc.]
- Increase in number of peer reviewed climate change publications by UK-supported local research bodies
- Other [defined by programme or project]

Increased Innovation

Could include:

- Number of domestic low carbon technologies supported
- Number of domestic adaptation measures/technologies supported
- Number and potential scope of new policy approaches tested, fostering climate risk management or low-carbon technologies
- Number and potential scope of new business models being tested and adopted, supporting climate resilience or clean energy technologies/low carbon practices
- Number of new market mechanisms promoting vulnerability assessments or achieving emissions reductions piloted
- Other [defined by programme or project]

Evidence of effectiveness is shared

- Number of activities (e.g., workshops, key publications) delivered to disseminate climate resilience measures and low carbon pathways programme experience, with evidence of take-up
- Other [defined by programme or project]

Leverage / create incentives for others to act

Could include:

- Policy and regulatory reforms initiated through UK Governmentsupported activities cut costs for private investors [e.g., introduction of low-cost subsidized adaptive flood and droughtresistant crop strains; or where the UK Government has supported the removal of regulations that hindered investment such as import tariffs on essential components for renewable energy]
- Legislative changes that enable and encourage new market players, such as support to allow independent power providers to operate and sell electricity to the national grid
- Development and introduction of policies and regulations supported which provide positive incentives for new approaches [e.g., where the UK Government has supported public tenders highlighting climate adaptive redesign protocols for infrastructure; or the development and implementation of a Feed-In-Tariff (FiT)]

Evidence that public goods provision supported by ICF encourages investment by others (e.g., new investments behind strengthened flood defences, private investment decisions informed by publicly available UK-supported climate projections, etc.)

Other [defined by programme or project]

Replicability

- Number and value of UK-developed approaches being copied by others [tracked in initiating country or region]
- Value of co-financing attracted into UK-initiated interventions
- Volume of public finance leveraged [public finance leveraged indicator]*
- Volume of private finance leveraged [use private finance leveraged indicator]*
- Other [defined by programme or project]
- * These measures could equally fit under the 'leverage/ incentives for others to act' criterion. Which one the programme manager chooses to put them under will depend on what elements of the generic theory of change are most relevant to the ICF activities in question.

Scalability

Ideally this will be a quantitative assessment of resources mobilised relative to the assessed funding amount necessary to effect the desired change. It will be location and context specific.

Such measures may well draw on other criteria and could include:

- Proportion of population at risk whose climate adaptive resilience is judged to have been markedly improved [drawing on other relevant ICF KPIs]
- X% of infrastructure at risk built to higher standard [e.g., X% of roads constructed or up-graded to cope with a climate-induced 1 in 5-10 year rain storm]
- A particular renewable technology accounts for X% of market share
- X% of potential farmers are able to access a particular improved seed variety, or Y% of farmers have been trained in new flood or drought-adaptive or lower carbon practices
- Other [defined by programme or project]

Sustainability

A view on the likely sustainability of ICF-funded activities could comprise a synthesis of the evidence presented on each of the indicators listed above (and should certainly draw on the other criteria).

Where relevant, other evidence should be included in this assessment [defined by programme or project]. Such measures could include:

- Local government representatives paid to continue promotion of climate risk management measures in farming practices/watershed management
- Target community assumes responsibility for management of solar/wind projects e.g., within a decentralised 5-year plan
- Other [defined by programme or project]

Annex 3: Definitions

Additionality: Results are additional if they are beyond the results that would have occurred in the absence of the ICF-supported intervention under a 'business as usual' counterfactual (see definition below and <u>supplementary guidance</u> on additionality and attribution).

Attribution: Attribution refers to allocating responsibility for results among all actors that have played a causal role in their delivery. This is commonly done based on share of financial contributions. However, there are situations where greater nuance is needed, as with ICF KPI 11 and ICF KPI 12 on public and private finance mobilised, where a broader range of factors is considered. See supplementary guidance on additionality and attribution).

Climate change^{1,2}: A change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere, and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods.

Climate change adaptation³: The process of adjustment to actual or expected climate and its effects. In human systems, adaptation seeks to moderate or avoid harm or exploit beneficial opportunities. In some natural systems, human intervention may facilitate adjustment to expected climate and its effects.

Coping capacity⁴: The ability of people, organisations, and systems, using available skills, resources, and opportunities, to address, manage, and overcome adverse conditions.

Counterfactual: The situation one might expect to have prevailed at the point in time in which a programme is providing results, under different conditions. Commonly, this is used to refer to a 'business-as-usual' counterfactual case that would have been observed had the ICF-supported intervention not taken place.

Effects of climate change: Effects of both observed climate variability and expected impacts of future climate change on lives, livelihoods, health, ecosystems, economies, societies, cultures, services, and infrastructure.

¹ United Nations. (1992). United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, pp. 7.

²UNFCCC Glossary, Article I, Page 120

³ IPCC, 2014: Annex II: Glossary [Mach, K.J., S. Planton and C. von Stechow (eds.)]. In: <u>Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report</u>. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, p118.

⁴ IPCC, 2014: Annex II: Glossary [Mach, K.J., S. Planton and C. von Stechow (eds.)]. In: Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, pp. 117-130.

Mitigation (of climate change)⁵: A human intervention to reduce the sources or enhance the sinks of greenhouse gases.

Public finance: Funding from governments, or organisations such as development banks where governments own more than 50% of equity.

Resilience⁶: The capacity of social, economic and environmental systems to cope with a hazardous event or trend or disturbance, responding or reorganising in ways that maintain their essential function, identity and structure, while also maintaining the capacity for adaptation, learning and transformation.

Support: Assistance from an ICF programme, with the explicit intention of helping people adapt to observed or predicted climate change impacts. Support could include: agricultural inputs, assets, capacity-building, communications (e.g. climate risk and early warning systems), financial resources, information (e.g. climate forecasting), institutional strengthening, or policy formulation. This definition requires that the ICF programme explicitly recognises and targets people to adapt to the effects of climate change.

-

⁵ IPCC, 2014: Annex II: Glossary [Mach, K.J., S. Planton and C. von Stechow (eds.)]. In: Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, p125.

⁶ IPCC, 2014: Annex II: Glossary [Mach, K.J., S. Planton and C. von Stechow (eds.)]. In: Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, p127.

Annex 4: Optional ICF KPI 15 Reporting Template

PROGRAMME/PROJECT NAME

Programme/Project summary:

Implementing Years: [insert project years]

Donors: [insert donors]

Reporting level: [e.g. Programme/Country/Region/Fund]

Total Programme/Portfolio/Fund Size: [insert financial size]

UK Contribution to Programme/Fund/Country or regional level

intervention: [insert financial size]
ICF KPI 15 score: [insert score]

Transformational Change Criteria: [insert Transformational Change criteria as found in Methodology (e.g. innovation, evidence of effectiveness, etc). Multiple

criteria can be mentioned.]

Programme Description:

[insert 1-2 paragraphs describing the ICF Programme]

Criteria relevant to ICF KPI 15, with indicators assigned:

The following criteria are deemed relevant to ICF KPI 15:

1. [insert first relevant Transformational Change criteria, and the indicators which have been assigned to this]

Indicator [*can be both quantitative and qualitative]	Data	Milestone / Qualitative Assessment
[insert indicator]	[insert data]	[include milestones or description of how scores will be assessed to provide a score]
[insert indicator]	[insert data]	[include milestones]
[insert indicator]	[insert data]	[include milestones]
Add rows as needed depended on number of indicators		

Indicator selection narrative:

[provide an explanation as to why the indicators have been selected within the context of the programme/fund/country level intervention]

Justification of score:

A score of [insert score] was awarded, as [insert narrative justifying score and a qualitative judgement on the strength of evidence].

2. [insert second relevant Transformational Change criteria], and the indicators which have been assigned to this]

Indicator [*can be both quantitative and qualitative]	Data	Milestone / Qualitative Assessment	
[insert indicator]	[insert data]	[include milestones or description of how scores will be assessed to provide a score]	
[insert indicator]	[insert data]	[include milestones]	
[insert indicator]	[insert data]	[include milestones]	
Add rows as needed depended on number of indicators			

Indicator selection narrative:

[provide an explanation as to why the indicators have been selected within the context of the programme/fund/country level intervention]

Justification of score:

A score of [insert score] was awarded, as [insert narrative justifying score and a qualitative judgement on the strength of evidence].

Overall score

Overall [insert programme name] scored a weighted mean score of [insert score].

3. [Repeat step for as many Transformational Change criteria that are relevant]

Annex 5: Guide for converting original ICF KPI 15 scores to the updated ICF KPI 15 scores.

During the 2023 update of ICF KPI methodological notes the ICF KPI 15 indicator moved from using scores of 0-4 to using score of 1-5 scorecard and changed some of the qualitative descriptions that each score signifies. This change makes it easier to distinguish between different scores on the scale, and allows for evidence showing where transformational change is unlikely to be recorded.

Many ICF activities will have already developed scoring approaches based on the original scoring approach. To support the transition between the original and new scoring approach, a guide has been developed to convert the original scores to the new scores (see <u>Table 4</u>). This should be used where needed as programmes transition to a new approach, but programmes are advised to update their scoring methodology to align with the new approach wherever possible. Please note this change is only forwards looking, **historic results should not be amended.**

Table 4: Guide for converting original ICF KPI 15 score to new ICF KPI 15 score.

Original score and descriptor	New score and descriptor
Transformation judged unlikely	Substantial evidence transformational change is unlikely or will not occur, Or
	Partial evidence transformational change is unlikely
1 No evidence yet available - too soon to revise assessment in business case	3 Not enough evidence yet to assess, or the balance of evidence is inconclusive
2 Some early evidence suggests Transformation judged likely	4 Partial evidence transformational change is likely.
Tentative evidence of change – transformation judged likely	4 Partial evidence transformational change is likely.
Clear evidence of change - transformation judged very likely	5 Substantial evidence transformational change is likely or already occurring.